
 

BULLOCH COUNTY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

AGENDA ● MARCH 7, 2023 

 Regular Meeting Honey Bowen Building Multi-Purpose Room 5:30 PM 

  1 Max Lockwood Drive, Statesboro, GA 30458 

Bulloch County Page 1 Updated 3/3/2023 9:09 AM  

I. CALL TO ORDER, WELCOME MEDIA AND VISITORS 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson  

II. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Commissioner Jappy Stringer 

III. ROLL CALL 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Clerk of the Board 

IV. APPROVAL OF GENERAL AGENDA 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson 

1. Minutes Approval: Tuesday January 31st, 2023 10:00 AM 

2. Minutes Approval: Tuesday February 7th, 2023 05:30 PM 

3. Minutes Approval: Tuesday February 21st, 2023 08:30 AM 

4. Motion to approve Neal's Plumbing & Electric to replace the plumbing in the BCCI dorm bathrooms for 

$64,000. 

5. Approve an amendment to the budgets for Fiscal Year 2023 by appropriating amounts in some funds for 

various activities. 

6. Approve an Easement to Georgia Power Company in Consideration for $935.00 

7. Motion to purchase new management and reporting software from First Due in the amount of $27,650 for 

the Bulloch County Fire Department. 

8. Motion to Approve the Purchase of Grapple Truck from Solid Waste Applied Technologies, Inc. in the 

Amount of $278,950.00. 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 



Agenda Board of Commissioners March 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 2 Updated 3/3/2023 9:09 AM  

1. Approve and Ratify an Economic Development Agreement by and among the Development Authority of 

Bulloch County and Joon Georgia, Inc. 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: County Attorney Jeff Akins 

2. Discussion and/or Action to Change Road Name from Siggers Road to Nadine Way 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: County Attorney Jeff Akins 

3. Approve Change Order in the amount of $42,232.00 to Lavender & Associates, Inc. for additional work on 

the North Main Annex renovation/addition project. 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Special Projects Manager Randy Newman 

VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Audience 

VIII. COMMISSION AND STAFF COMMENTS 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson et al 

IX. ADJOURN 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson 



 Bulloch BOC/Planning and Zoning Commission  

  ,    

 Work Session www.bullochcounty.net 

 

 ~ Minutes ~ Clerk of the Board 

 

Tuesday, January 31, 2023 10:00 AMHoney Bowen Building Multi-Purpose Room 

Bulloch BOC/Planning and Zoning Commission Page 1 Printed 3/3/2023 

 

I. Call to Order 

Chairman Thompson called the meeting to order.  

 

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 

Ray Mosley Vice-Chairman Present  

Anthony Simmons Commissioner Present  

Curt Deal Commissioner Present  

Roy Thompson Chairman  Present  

Jappy Stringer Commissioner Present  

Charles Chandler Planning Commissioner Present  

Gary Edwards Planning Commissioner Present  

Schubert Lane Planning Commissioner Present  

Yolanda Tremble Planning Commissioner Present  

Jeanne Anne Marsh Planning Commission Chairman Present  

Timmy Rushing Commissioner Present  

Ryne Brannen Planning Commissioner Present  

Betsy Riner Planning Commissioner Present  

Toby Conner Commissioner Present  

II. Invocation and Pledge 

Commissioner Ray Mosley gave the invocation and pledge of allegiance.  

III. Work Session 

1. Staff Report (ID # 2657) 

Discussion of recommended modifications to various development ordinances including 

Appendix B Subdivision Regulations and Appendix C Zoning. 

COMMENTS - Current Meeting: 

County Manager Tom Couch gave an introduction and overview of the Comprehensive Plan. He 

gave a slide presentation detailing the Smart Bulloch 2040 Comprehensive Plan.  

 

Planning and Zoning Director James Pope discussed zoning ordinance revisions and specific use 

standards. He discussed recommendations for modifications to various development ordinances 

including Appendix B Subdivision Regulations and Appendix C Zoning.  

2. Staff Report (ID # 2658) 

5.1

Packet Pg. 3

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ja

n
 3

1,
 2

02
3 

10
:0

0 
A

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Work Session Minutes January 31, 2023 

Bulloch BOC/Planning and Zoning Commission Page 2 Printed 3/3/2023 

Discussion of the Stormwater Drainage Ordinance. 

COMMENTS - Current Meeting: 

County Engineer Brad Deal stated the purpose of the ordinance.  He also gave information 

concerning certain exemptions from the ordinance and requirements under the ordinance.   

IV. Commission and Staff Comments 

Questions concerning parking lot ordinances were address by County Manager Tom Couch. He 

stated that the parking ordinances would give more latitude to County Engineer Brad Deal and 

the Planning and Zoning department. He stated that traffic studies will generate the necessary 

data to support plans and developments.  

 

Mr. Couch stated that the wells needed for Hyundai would be the first permitted.  

 

Fire Chief Ben Tapley explained the ISO water equation as it pertains to the water flow for 

houses.   

V. Adjourn 

Chairman Thompson asked for a motion to adjourn.  

1. Motion To: Motion to Adjourn. 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Toby Conner, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Schubert Lane, Planning Commissioner 

AYES: Mosley, Simmons, Deal, Thompson, Stringer, Chandler, Edwards, Lane, 

Tremble, Marsh, Rushing, Brannen, Riner, Conner 

5.1

Packet Pg. 4

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ja

n
 3

1,
 2

02
3 

10
:0

0 
A

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



 

BULLOCH COUNTY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

MINUTES ● FEBRUARY 7, 2023 

 Regular Meeting Honey Bowen Building Multi-Purpose Room 5:30 PM 

  1 Max Lockwood Drive, Statesboro, GA 30458 

Bulloch County Page 1 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

I. CALL TO ORDER, WELCOME MEDIA AND VISITORS 

Chairman Thompson called the meeting to order and welcomed the media and visitors.  

II. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 

Commissioner Conner gave the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.  

III. ROLL CALL 

Administrative Specialist Amanda Sullivan performed the roll call for the Commissioners.  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 

Ray Mosley Vice-Chairman Present  

Anthony Simmons Commissioner Present  

Curt Deal Commissioner Present  

Roy Thompson Chairman Present  

Jappy Stringer Commissioner Present  

Timmy Rushing Commissioner Present  

Toby Conner Commissioner Present  

 

The following staff were present:  County Manager Tom Couch, Assistant County Manager Cindy Steinmann, 

County Attorney Jeff Akins, Planning and Development Director James Pope, Chief Financial Officer Kristie King, 

County Engineer Brad Deal, Human Resources Director Cindy Mallett, Parks and Recreation Director Eddie 

Cannon, Public Safety Director Ted Wynn, Public Works Director Dink Butler, Deputy EMS Director Brian 

Hendrix, Warden Randy Tillman, Fire Chief Ben Tapley, Building Zoning Administrator Patrick Patton, 

Administrative Specialist Amanda Sullivan 

 

IV. APPROVAL OF ZONING AGENDA 

Chairman Thompson called for a motion to approve the Zoning Agenda as presented.  

1. Motion to approve the Zoning Agenda as presented. 

5.2

Packet Pg. 5

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 2 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

2. Christopher Hogue submitted an application to rezone 9.69 acres from AG-5 to R-80 to allow the property 

to be divided into 2 parcels. The property is located at 1994 Ponderosa Road, Parcel No. 027 000036 000. 

Planning and Development Director James Pope stated that Christopher Hogue submitted application# RZNE-

2022-00086 to rezone 9.69 acres from AG-5 to R-80 to allow the property to be divided into 2 parcels. The 

property is located at 1994 Ponderosa Road, Parcel No. 027 000036 000. He stated that the staff recommends 

approval of the rezone request.  

 

Tonya Hogue, acting as agent, stated that they wanted to split the property and build a residence on the back 

side of the property.  

 

No one signed up to speak (See Exhibit# 2023-22). 

 

There being no further discussion a motion was made to approve the rezone of the subject property from AG-5 

to R-80.   

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

3. Protective Real Estate Investments, LLC, the developer of the Chatham Place - Section 2 subdivision, is 

requesting the creation of a county street light district for Phase 10 of the subdivision. Protective Real 

Estate Investments, LLC proposes 16 lots to be included within the streetlight district. 

Planning and Zoning Director James Pope stated that Protective Real Estate Investments, LLC, submitted 

application# STLT-2022-000012 requesting the creation of a street light district for Phase 10 of Chatham Place 

- Section 2 Subdivision. He stated that Protective Real Estate Investments, LLC proposes 16 lots to be included 

within the streetlight district. Mr. Pope stated that Real Estate Investments, LLC was the developer of the 

Chatham Place - Section 2 Subdivision. Mr. Pope stated that the staff recommended approval of the streetlight 

district and further explained that, since the plat for Phase 10 of Chatham Place - Section 2 Subdivision has not 

yet been recorded, the Commissioners would have to adopt a resolution to actually create the district at some 

point in the future after the plat is actually recorded. 

 

There being no questions or further discussion, a motion was made to approve the request for a street light tax 

district for Phase 10 of Chatham Place - Section 2 Subdivision (See Exhibit 2023-23).    

5.2

Packet Pg. 6

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 3 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

4. Tammy Barrow-Burnett submitted an application for a conditional use to allow a facility to host private and 

public functions to be located in HC. The property is located at 22700 Hwy. 80 East, Parcel No. 107 

000023 013. 

Planning and Development Director James Pope stated that Tammy Barrow-Burnett submitted application# 

USE-2022-00033 for a conditional use to allow a facility to host private and public functions to be located in a 

Highway Commercial zone. The property consists of 5.12 acres and is located at 22700 Highway 80 East, 

Parcel No. 107 000023 013. Mr. Pope stated that the staff recommends approval of the conditional use with 

conditions.  

 

Tammy Barrow-Burnett signed up to speak as agent (See Exhibit# 2023-24). Ms. Barrow-Burnett stated that 

she purchased the subject property in April of 2022. She stated that she owns a tent rental company, which hosts 

various events. She stated that she wants to use the back end of the property to set up temporary tents for special 

events.  

 

There being no further discussion, a motion was made to approve the conditional use to allow a facility to host 

private and public functions on the subject property with conditions (See Exhibit# 2023-25).  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Toby Conner, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

5. Laurie Lykins submitted an application to rezone 1.73 acres from AG-5 to R-25 to allow the property to be 

divided into 2 parcels. The property is located at 1326 Henry Blitch Road, Parcel No. 045 000024 000. 

Planning and Development Director James Pope stated that Laurie Lykins submitted application# RZNE-2022-

00087 requesting to rezone 1.73 acres from AG-5(Agriculture 5 acres) to R-25(Residential 25,000) to allow the 

property to be divided into 2 parcels. The property is located at 1326 Henry Blitch Road, Parcel No. 045 000024 

000. Mr. Pope stated that the staff and the Planning and Zoning Commission recommend approval of the rezone 

request.  

 

Mr. John Dotson spoke as acting agent for Laurie Lykins. He stated that the applicant intended to place another 

residence on the property. He stated that there was one well that would service both lots and that they had no 

conditions.  

 

No one signed up to speak (See Exhibit# 2023-26). 

 

There being no questions or further discussion, a motion was made to approve the rezoning of the subject 

property from AG-5 to R-25.   

5.2

Packet Pg. 7

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 4 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

6. Bruce Wade and Angie Parker submitted an application for a conditional use to allow construction of two 

family (duplex) residential dwellings in HC zone. The property is located on Old Register Way, Parcel No. 

062 000016 000. 

Mr. Pope stated that Bruce Wade and Angie Parker submitted application# USE-2022-00034 for a conditional 

use to allow construction of two family residential dwellings in a Highway Commercial zone.  The property is 

located on Old Register Way, Parcel No. 062 000016 000. Mr. Pope stated that the staff and the Planning and 

Zoning Commission recommend approval of the conditional use with the conditions placed in the staff report.  

 

John Dotson spoke as acting agent for Bruce Wade and Angie Parker. He stated that they intended to build 

duplexes on the subject property. He stated that the applicants are in agreement with the conditions.  

 

No one signed up to speak (See Exhibit# 2023-27). 

 

There being no further discussion, a motion was made to approve the conditional use to allow construction of 

two family (duplex) residential dwellings on the subject property with conditions ( See Exhibit# 2023-28).  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Toby Conner, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

7. Cleve White submitted an application to amend Appendix C, Article 2, Section 202 of the Bulloch County 

Zoning Ordinance to modify the definition of freight trucking; and amend Article 8, Section 202-

Commercial and Industrial Principal Use table. 

Mr. Pope stated that Cleve White submitted application# RZNE-2022-00088 to amend Appendix C, Article 2, 

Section 202 of the Bulloch County Zoning Ordinance to modify the definition of freight trucking; and amend 

Article 8, Section 202-Commercial and Industrial Principal Use table. He stated that the staff and the Planning 

and Zoning Commission recommend approval of the text amendments. 

 

Cleve White signed up to speak as agent (See Exhibit# 2023-29). He asked if there were any questions.   

 

Without further discussion, a motion was made to approve the amending of Appendix C, Article 2, Section 202 

of the Bulloch County Zoning Ordinance to modify the definition of freight trucking and to amend Article 8, 

Section 202-Commercial and Industrial Principal Use table (See Exhibit# 2023-30).   

5.2

Packet Pg. 8

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 5 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

8. Courage Atekha and Bonnie Grist submitted an application for a conditional use to allow freight trucking in 

HC. The property is located at 12147 Hwy. 301 South, Parcel No. MS34 000006 000. 

Planning and Development Director James Pope stated that Courage Atekha and Bonnie Grist submitted 

application# USE-2022-00035 for a conditional use to allow freight trucking in a Highway Commercial zone. 

The property is located at 12147 Highway 301 South, Parcel No. MS34 000006 000. Mr. Pope stated that the 

staff and the Planning and Zoning Commission recommend approval of the conditional use with the conditions 

stated in the staff report.  

 

No one signed up to speak (See Exhibit# 2023-31).   

 

There being no discussion, a motion was made to approve the conditional use to allow freight trucking on the 

subject property with conditions (See Exhibit# 2023-32).  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

9. Chris Akins submitted an application to rezone 7.65 acres from AG-5 to MHP to add additional 

manufactured homes. The property is located at 1281 Akins Anderson Road South, Parcel No. 049 00015 

000. 

Mr. Pope stated that Chris Akins submitted application# RZNE-2022-00086 to rezone 7.65 acres from AG-5 to 

MHP to add additional manufactured homes. The property is located at 1281 Akins Anderson Road South, 

Parcel No. 049 00015 000. Mr. Pope stated that the staff and the Planning and Zoning Commission recommend 

approval of the rezone request with conditions. Mr. Pope presented a sketch plan provided by the applicant. 

 

Mr. Dotson spoke as agent for Chris Akins. He presented the sketch showing the proposed lay out for the 

mobile home park. He stated that there was currently an entrance with an existing road for mobile homes that 

were currently on the property.   

 

No one signed up to speak (See Exhibit# 2023-33).  

 

There being no further discussion, a motion was made to approve the rezone of the subject property from AG-5 

to MHP with conditions (See Exhibit# 2023-34).   

5.2

Packet Pg. 9

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 6 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Toby Conner, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

10. Robert K. Bell Jr. Invenstments, Inc. submitted an application for a conditional use to allow a manufactured 

home to be located in a R-40 zone. The property is located at 817 Hope Baptist Church Road, Parcel No. 

103 000043 000. 

Planning and Development Director James Pope stated that Robert K. Bell, Jr. Investments, Inc. submitted 

application# USE-2022-00036 for a conditional use to allow a manufactured home to be located in a R-40 zone. 

He stated that the lot includes 1.4 acres. The property is located at 817 Hope Baptist Church Road, Parcel No. 

103 000043 000. Mr. Pope stated that the staff recommends approval of the conditional use request and that the 

Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval with a 3-0 vote.  

 

Robert K. Bell, Jr. signed up to speak as agent (See Exhibit# 2023-35). He stated that he obtained a conditional 

use last year for 4 lots, but missed the 1 year deadline and ability to apply for an extension. He stated they were 

applying again to complete the project.    

 

There being no further discussion, a motion was made to approve the conditional use to allow a manufactured 

home to be located on the subject property.  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

11. The Bulloch County Planning and Development Department proposes to amend the Official Zoning Map of 

Bulloch County to apply the Interstate Gateway Overlay district to two parcels. The parcels are located 

approximate to 3414 Union Church Road. 

Planning and Development Director James Pope stated that the Bulloch County Planning and Development 

Department submitted application# RZNE-2022-00090 requesting to amend the Official Zoning Map of 

Bulloch County to apply the Interstate Gateway Overlay district to two parcels. The two parcels are located 

approximate to 3414 Union Church Road, Parcel No. 050 000040 000 and a portion of Parcel No. 050 000020 

000. He stated that the staff proposed approval of the amendment to the Zoning Ordinance of Bulloch County. 

Mr. Pope stated that the Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval by a 3-0 vote.  

 

No one signed up to speak (See Exhibit# 2023-36).    

 

There being no further discussion, a motion was made to approve the request to amend the Official Zoning Map 

of Bulloch County to apply the Interstate Gateway Overlay district to the two subject parcels (See Exhibit# 

2023-37).  

5.2

Packet Pg. 10

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 7 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

V. APPROVAL OF GENERAL AGENDA 

Chairman Thompson asked to move the Consent Agenda before New Business on the General Agenda.  

1. Motion to approve the General Agenda with the modification of moving the Consent Agenda before New 

Business. 

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

VI. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

William Emley signed up to speak (See Exhibit# 2023-38). Mr. Emley expressed his concerns that he has not been 

able to obtain a meeting with the Commissioners, the increase in property taxes, the tax exemptions given to 

industrial parks and the number of sheriff deputies hired.  

 

Chairman Thompson, Commissioner Rushing and County Manager Couch addressed Mr. Emley's concerns and 

encouraged him to contact any of them for an appointment. Mr. Couch gave Mr. Emley an available date of 

February 15, 2023 and instructed him to call to schedule a time.  

VII. CONSENT AGENDA 

Chairman Thompson asked if there was any discussion or modifications to the Consent Agenda.  

 

Commissioner Mosley requested that the appointment of Lawton Sack to the Bulloch County Board of Elections and 

Registration be removed from the Consent Agenda and deferred to the next regular Commissioner meeting agenda.    

 

A motion was made to approve the Consent Agenda with the modification requested by Commissioner Mosley.  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Jappy Stringer, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby Conner 

1. Minutes Approval:  Tuesday January 3rd, 2023 05:30 PM. 

2. Minutes Approval:  Tuesday January 17th, 2023 08:30 AM. 

3. Minutes Approval:  Executive Session Minutes Tuesday January 17th, 2023 08:30 AM. 

4. Approve Fire Response Mutual Aid Agreements with surrounding Cities and Counties (See Exhibit# 2023-

39). 

5.2

Packet Pg. 11

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 8 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

5. Approve the installation of equipment needed for additional cameras at Splash in the Boro Waterpark by 

Georgia Technologies in the amount of $5,470.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-40). 

6. Approve the installation of additional cameras at Spash in the Boro Waterpark by FEMAC Security 

Solutions in the amount of $25,823.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-41). 

7. Approve bid from BSN Sports in the amount of $69,796.82 for Baseball/Softball equipment and uniforms 

for Spring 2023 seasson (See Exhibit# 2023-42). 

8. Approve a Revocable License Agreement for an S&S Greenway Animal/Plant Research Project with 

Georgia Southern Universtiy (See Exhibit# 2023-43). 

9. Approve a Concession Agreement with Blue Mile Pizza, LLC to operate the Grill at Splash in the Boro 

(See Exhibit#  2023-44). 

10. Approve a Concession Agreement with Blue Mile Pizza, LLC to operate the Pizzeria at Splash in the Boro 

(See Exhibit# 2023-45). 

11. Grant a 2023 alcoholic beverage renewal license for package retail beer and wine sales to certain 

establishments with a current 2022 license (See Exhibit# 2023-46). 

12. Approval of a Resolution Authorizing Notice of an Intent Not to Renew a Certain Lease Agreement with 

Statesboro Ear, Nose, Throat and Facial Plastic Surgery, P.C. (See Exhibit# 2023-47). 

13. Approve an Underground Easement to Georgia Power (See Exhibit# 2023-48). 

14. Approve the appointment of Commissioner Anthony Simmons to the Coastal Regional Commission 

Council as the public sector representative with a term concurrent with his elected term, beginning on 

January 1, 2023 and ending on December 31, 2026. 

15. Approve a temporary construction easement to the Georgia Department of Transportation for the 

reconstruction of a driveway into the Statesboro-Bulloch County Airport as part of the road widening 

project on US 301 North (See Exhibit# 2023-49). 

16. Approve State Farm Insurance Settlement and Release of Claims (See Exhibit# 2023-50). 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Motion to enter into an agreement with EMC Engineering Services, Inc. for professional services in the 

amount of $95,000.00 for surveying and design for the grading and paving of JA Hart Road, and portions 

of Moore Road and Lee Road, to be funded by TSPLOST. 

County Engineer Brad Deal explained that the agreement with EMC Engineering Services, Inc. is for surveying 

and designing of three county dirt roads, JA Hart Road, Moore Road and Lee Road, that are already in the 

budget to pave in the fiscal year. He stated that putting the three together saves the County money. He stated 

that EMC Engineering Services, Inc. had the lowest cost among all the proposals received. He stated that the 

project was funded by TSPOST funds.  

 

A motion was made to enter into an agreement with EMC Engineering Services, Inc. for professional design 

services in the amount of $95,000.00 for the surveying and design for the grading and paving of JA Hart Road 

and portions of Moore Road and Lee Road (See Exhibit# 2023-51).  

5.2

Packet Pg. 12

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 9 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

2. Approve a Land Purchase and Sale Agreement to Purchase 4.52 Acres from Robert K. Bell Development 

Company for $125,00.00. 

County Attorney Jeff Akins stated that the 4.52 acres to be purchased is adjacent to a 1-acre lot that Robert K. 

Bell Development Company previously donated to the County for County purposes. He explained the 

agreement having a closing date of June 9, 2023 and the special stipulation in the agreement.  

 

There being no further discussion, a motion was made to approve the Land Purchase and Sale Agreement to 

purchase 4.52 acres from Robert K. Bell Development Company for $125,000.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-52).  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

IX. COMMISSION AND STAFF COMMENTS 

Chairman Thompson addressed visitors, thanking them for attending the meeting and reiterating that Commissioners 

are always available to meet with citizens. Commissioner Simmons and County Manager Couch also addressed the 

public stating that Commissioners and Staff members are available to the public and willing to answer any 

questions. Commissioner Simmons stated he is willing to meet with anyone and if he does not have the answers he 

will refer you to the appropriate department when needed.    

 

Assistant County Manager Cindy Steinmann stated that online questions are received and directed to the appropriate 

departments or individuals for completion. 

 

There being no further discussion, Chairman Thompson stated that the Board must now adjourn into Executive 

Session for the purpose of discussing personnel matters. He called for a motion to enter into Executive Session in 

accordance with the provisions of O.C.G.A. § 50-14-3(b)(2) and other applicable laws pursuant to the advice of 

County Attorney Jeff Akins for the purposes of discussing personnel matters.  

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION (PERSONNEL) 

1. A motion was made to enter into Executive Session for the purpose of discussion of personnel matters in 

accordance with provisions of O.C.G.A. § 50-14-3(b)(2) (See Exhibit #2023-53) 

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Jappy Stringer, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

XI. ADJOURN 

5.2

Packet Pg. 13

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 10 Updated 2/22/2023 1:38 PM  

Hearing no further discussion, Chairman Thompson called for a motion to adjourn the meeting.  

1. Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

  

Chairman 

 

Attest: 

Venus Mincey-White,  

Clerk of the Board 

5.2

Packet Pg. 14

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



 

BULLOCH COUNTY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

MINUTES ● FEBRUARY 21, 2023 

 Regular Meeting Honey Bowen Building Multi-Purpose Room 8:30 AM 

  1 Max Lockwood Drive, Statesboro, GA 30458 

Bulloch County Page 1 Updated 3/3/2023 9:03 AM  

I. CALL TO ORDER, WELCOME MEDIA AND VISITORS 

Chairman Thompson called the meeting to order and welcomed the media and visitors.  

II. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 

Commissioner Mosley gave the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 

III. ROLL CALL 

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 

Ray Mosley Vice-Chairman Present  

Anthony Simmons Commissioner Present  

Curt Deal Commissioner Present  

Roy Thompson Chairman Present  

Jappy Stringer Commissioner Present  

Timmy Rushing Commissioner Present  

Toby Conner Commissioner Present  

 

The following staff were present:   County Manager Tom Couch, Assistant County Manager Cindy Steinmann, 

County Attorney Jeff Akins, Planning and Development Director James Pope, Chief Financial Officer Kristie King, 

Assistant Chief Financial Officer Breanna Haydon, County Engineer Brad Deal, Senior Accountant Peyton Fuller, 

Human Resources Director Cindy Mallett, Parks and Recreation Director Eddie Cannon, Public Safety Director Ted 

Wynn, Public Works Director Dink Butler, EMS Director Brian Hendrix, Community Relations Manager Broni 

Gainous, Fire Chief Ben Tapley, Warden Randy Tillman, Sergeant Tim Miller, Clerk of the Board Venus Mincey-

White  

 

IV. APPROVAL OF GENERAL AGENDA 

1. Motion to approve the General Agenda as presented. 

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 

5.3

Packet Pg. 15

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

1,
 2

02
3 

8:
30

 A
M

  (
C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 21, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 2 Updated 3/3/2023 9:03 AM  

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Jappy Stringer, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby Conner 

1. Approve a request for the Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) Grant for the District Attorney's Office for 

$108,642.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-54). 

2. Approve Bulloch Solutions Fiber Installation and Directional Bore Project at Splash in the Boro and Mill 

Creek Regional Park in the amount of $78,591.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-55). 

3. Approve receipt of service from Southern Asbestos Abatement Co., Inc. in the total of $22,915.00 (See 

Exhibit# 2023-56). 

4. Approve the purchase of a Ventilation System Upgrade from J.D.'s Heating and Air in the amount of 

$43,634.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-57). 

5. Approve a contract for Splash in the Boro Summer Marketing/Media purchases through Davis Marketing 

Company in the amount of $23,346.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-58). 

6. Approve Zambelli Fireworks Manufacturing Company contract for Firecracker Fest on July 1, 2023 in the 

amount of $20,000.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-59). 

7. Approve the re-appointment of Kelly Barnard to the Southeast Georgia Regional Radio Network 

(SEGARRN) board. 

8. Approve the purchase of twenty 20-yard Roll Off Containers from Wastequip for a total of $110,984.00 

(See Exhibit# 2023-60). 

9. Grant alcoholic beverage license for retail beer and wine sales for Four Square Circle, LLC located at 4643 

Hwy. 25 (See Exhibit# 2023-61). 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Approve Accountability Court to submit Fiscal Year 2024 Grant Applications for Ogeechee JC Mental 

Health Court and Drug Court. 

Judge Michael T. Muldrew gave a brief overview of the grant request. He gave highlights of events that have 

taken place over the past year within the courts. Judge Muldrew asked if there were any questions. There being 

none, he asked the board to approve their grant application requests.   

 

There being no further discussion a motion was made to approve the Accountability Court's submission of grant 

applications for the Ogeechee Judicial Circuit Mental Health Court and Drug Court for the Fiscal Year 2024 

(See Exhibit# 2023-62).  

5.3

Packet Pg. 16

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

1,
 2

02
3 

8:
30

 A
M

  (
C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 21, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 3 Updated 3/3/2023 9:03 AM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Toby Conner, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

2. Resolution to appoint Lawton Sack to fill the unexpired term of Hadley Campbell on the Bulloch County 

Board of Elections and Registration beginning on April 1, 2023 and ending on December 31, 2025. 

Chairman Thompson stated that this New Business item was a carryover from the Commissioners' previous 

meeting to allow Commissioner Mosley the opportunity to discuss and ask questions concerning the 

appointment of Lawton Sack to the Board of Elections and Registration. Commissioner Mosley thanked the 

Commission and Mr. Lawton Sack for the opportunity for discussion and to respond to constituents.   

 

There being no further questions or discussion, a motion was made to approve a resolution appointing Lawton 

Sack to fill the unexpired term of Hadley Campbell on the Bulloch County Board of Elections and Registration 

beginning on April 1, 2023 and ending on December 31, 2025 as presented (See Exhibit# 2023-63). 

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

3. Approve a Memorandum of Understanding by and among the Development Authority of Bulloch County 

and Ecoplastic America Corporation. 

County Attorney Jeff Akins gave a brief overview of the Memorandum of Understanding.  

 

Commissioner Curt Deal stated that he was abstaining from voting due to affiliation with the Development 

Authority of Bulloch County.  

 

Without further discussion a motion was made to approve the Memorandum of Understanding by and among 

the Development Authority of Bulloch County and Ecoplastic Corporation (See Exhibit# 2023-64).  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby Conner 

ABSTAIN: Curt Deal 

4. Approve a Change Order in the amount of $158,802.36 with Mill Creek Construction for material cost 

increases and additional work on the Hood Road Project. 

County Engineer Brad Deal gave information pertaining to the project. He stated there have been a number of 

delays encountered with the project that were not the contractor's fault and that resulted in material cost 

increases and additional work for the contractor, Mill Creek Construction.   

 

There being no further discussion, a motion was made to approve the Change Order with Mill Creek 

Construction in the amount of $158,802.36 for material cost increases and additional work on the Hood Road 

Project (See Exhibit# 2023-65).   

5.3

Packet Pg. 17

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

1,
 2

02
3 

8:
30

 A
M

  (
C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 21, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 4 Updated 3/3/2023 9:03 AM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Shari Barr, dressed as the story book character Mother Goose, informed the Commission, staff and visitors about the 

Ferst Foundation and the campaign that is currently underway to help raise funds for books and with improving 

literacy in young children (See Exhibit# 2023-66).  

 

 

Joe Douglas, former Bulloch County employee, addressed the Commissioners concerning a personnel matter. 

County Attorney Jeff Akins stated that the proper actions have been taken to address Mr. Douglas' claims. He stated 

the HR Director and the County Manager acted perfectly appropriate in their handling of the events. County 

Manager Tom Couch stated that all the proper steps have been taken, and that he is satisfied that the involved 

departments have handled the issues appropriately and have legally satisfied their obligations. Chairman Thompson 

stated that the Commissioners appreciate him coming and support the staff in their decisions and handling of the 

personnel matter.  

VIII. COMMISSION AND STAFF COMMENTS 

Parks and Recreation Director Eddie Canon gave a brief presentation updating the Commission, staff and visitors of 

upcoming Spring and Summer events for the Parks and Recreation Department.  

 

County Manager Tom Couch reiterated the work that was done on the zoning moratorium. He thanked numerous 

staff for the work they have done on the planning and zoning issues and revising zoning and other ordinances. He 

stated that they have made changes and updates with the ordinances to address affordable workforce housing, 

making sure to address water and sewage, bonus densities, parking reduction and multi house dwellings (duplexes).  

He stated that the staff will be meeting with the Moratorium and Land Use Committee. 

 

Assistant County Manager Cindy Steinmann stated that we are kicking off early on Budget Planning. She stated that 

training has begun and that we are focusing on strategic planning to help us reach our goals and objectives. She gave 

dates for a Budget Retreat to be held on March 22nd and a half day on March 23rd. A workshop will precede the 

retreat to assist individuals to prepare for the retreat.    

 

County Attorney Jeff Akins added clarification concerning Mr. Joe Douglas' public comments concerning the nature 

of the incident that Mr. Douglas discussed. 

 

Commissioner Simmons praised the Parks and Recreation Staff and County Manager for all the hard work they put 

in to running the County.  

 

Commissioner Rushing addressed the bidding process and carefully examining Change Orders. He stated that 

companies must take all scenarios into account as far as timelines, cost of materials and price changes when bidding 

on a project. 

 

Commissioner Stringer and Commissioner Rushing also praised the staff and thanked them for all that they do.   

IX. ADJOURN 

There being no further discussion, Chairman Thompson asked for a motion to adjourn the meeting.  

1. Motion to adjourn. 

5.3

Packet Pg. 18

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

1,
 2

02
3 

8:
30

 A
M

  (
C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners February 21, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 5 Updated 3/3/2023 9:03 AM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Jappy Stringer, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, Toby 

Conner 

  

Chairman 

 

Attest: 

Venus Mincey-White,  

Clerk of the Board 

5.3

Packet Pg. 19

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

1,
 2

02
3 

8:
30

 A
M

  (
C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Correctional Institute 

 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Motion to approve Neal's Plumbing & Electric to replace the plumbing in the BCCI dorm bathrooms for $64,000. 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

This project is to replace all plumbing inside of each dorm located in the bathroom area of BCCI. The current 

copper piping is corroded and very difficult to repair. This replacement will lessen the chance of service issues 

in this critical area. Several contractors were contacted for price quotes on this project. Neal’s Plumbing & 

Electric, Inc. was the only contactor to respond with a quote. The other contractors were not interested in the 

job, they did not want to have to follow the prison’s rules about having their tools inventoried. Approval is 

recommended for Neal’s Plumbing & Electric to be awarded this project. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? YES 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/07/2023 5:30 PM 

Cindy Steinmann Completed 02/28/2023 2:25 PM 

Faye Bragg Completed 02/28/2023 2:55 PM 

Jeff Akins Completed 02/28/2023 3:14 PM 

Kristie King Completed 02/28/2023 3:27 PM 

Tom Couch Completed 03/01/2023 5:43 AM 

5.4

Packet Pg. 20



5.4.a

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

lu
m

b
in

g
 R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t 

E
st

im
at

e 
 (

B
C

C
I P

lu
m

b
in

g
 R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Finance 

 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Approve an amendment to the budgets for Fiscal Year 2023 by appropriating amounts in some funds for various activities. 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

Staff is requesting a mid-year budget amendment to appropriate monies needed for various operational and 

capital activities which are needed to complete organizational objectives.  Adjustments are necessary to 

modify budgets at the legal level of control per O.C.G.A. Chapter 36, as only the Commission has the 

authority to change spending levels.  Though O.C.G.A only requires an amendment for over-expenditures, 

Staff is also recommending increases to some estimated revenues due to revenue sources that became available 

during the year. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? YES 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
YES 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/07/2023 5:30 PM 

Tom Couch Completed 02/28/2023 2:24 PM 

Cindy Steinmann Completed 02/28/2023 2:24 PM 

Jeff Akins Completed 02/28/2023 3:45 PM 

5.5

Packet Pg. 22



 
 
TO:   County Manager and Board of Commissioners 
SUBJECT: FY23 Mid-Year Budget Amendment 
INITIATED BY: Finance Department 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Recommendation: Approve an amendment to the budgets for Fiscal Year 2023 by reallocating amounts 
budgeted for vacation cash outs in the Personnel Services budget to the departments that actually had 
employees cash out this year. 
 
Background: The Commission adopted the County’s Annual Operating budget, Capital budgets, and various 
special purpose budgets in June 2022 for fiscal year 2023.  Each of these budgets appropriated funding for 
planned operations and capital outlays. During the year, adjustments became necessary to increase or 
redistribute funding based on actions of the Commission or County Manager, changes in departmental 
activities and changes in funding sources. 
 
Staff is requesting a mid-year budget amendment to appropriate and reallocate monies needed for various 
activities which are needed to complete organizational objectives. Adjustments are necessary to modify 
budgets at the legal level of control per O.C.G.A. Chapter 36, as only the Commission has the authority to 
change spending levels.     
 
Analysis: The recommended budget adjustments are summarized below, identifying the total amount to be 
appropriated in each fund or departments within funds, where applicable. Additional tables provide detailed 
adjustments to the total spending authority of designated departments.  
 

 General Fund: The adjustment will increase the revenue budget by $654,447 for grant revenues, 
insurance proceeds and Federal Medicaid/Medicare Upper Payment Limits funds received by EMS. 
This amendment also increases the expenditure budget by $518,732 for expenditures related to a 
grant, a conversion of one part-time position to a full-time position, and an intergovernmental transfer 
to the State that must be made to receive the Upper Payment Limit funds. There is also a reallocation 
of budgeted funds from the Personnel Services department to each department that had employees 
cash out vacation hours in November 2022.      

 
 Accountability Court Fund: The adjustment will increase the expenditure budget by $1,232 for 

vacation time cashed out by Accountability Court employees.  
 
 E911 Fund:  The adjustment will increase the expenditure budget by $4,965 for vacation time cashed 

out by E911 employees. 
 

Rural Fire Fund: The adjustment will increase the expenditure budget by $4,170 for vacation time 
cashed out by Rural Fire employees. 
  
SPLOST 2019 Fund: The adjustment will increase the expenditure budget by $67,934 for equipment 
purchases to be made using Fund Balance in the Solid Waste SPLOST category. 

  
 Aquatic Center Fund: The adjustment will increase the expenditure budget by $3,281 for vacation time 

cashed out by Aquatic Center employees. 
 

Recommendation/Action:  Approve amendment to the operating and capital budgets for Fiscal Year 2023 by 
appropriating amounts in each fund and within departments for various operating and capital activities. 

5.5.a

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

Y
23

 B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

- 
M

ar
ch

 A
g

en
d

a 
S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

F
Y

23
 M

id
-Y

ea
r 

B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t)



STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF BULLOCH 
 

THE BULLOCH COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

RESOLUTION # 2023 - ____ 
 

TO AMEND THE GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS BUDGET AND WORK PROGRAM FOR FISCAL 
YEAR 2023; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Bulloch County Board of Commissioners has established a General Fund to 
serve as the primary financial reporting instrument for current governmental operations; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Bulloch County Board of Commissioners appropriates financial resources on an 
annual basis using a budget to identify revenues received, expenditures incurred, and transfers within, 
or to and from, the General Fund; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, County Officers, County Courts, County Operating Departments, and eligible 
Externally Funded Agencies have had their general appropriations reviewed for amendments for the 2023 
Fiscal Year by the County Manager as the appointed Budget Officer and Chief Financial Officer, for 
review and recommendation; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the County Manager of the Bulloch County Board of Commissioners, as the 
appointed Budget Officer, and the Chief Financial Officer have presented and recommended an 
amendment to the General Appropriations Budget to the Board of Commissioners; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners may find it necessary to adjust budgeted revenues and 
expenditures from time to time during the year, and the amendment to the General Appropriations Budget 
as recommended is based on current, but unaudited, actual results of revenues and expenditures; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Bulloch County Board of Commissioners has a responsibility to achieve 
maximum efficiency and effectiveness in its financial operations by maintaining a balanced budget where 
planned expenditures may not exceed revenues, according to State law; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that effective March 7, 2023 the Fiscal Year 2023 
Bulloch County General Appropriations Budget is hereby amended as set forth in the document attached 
hereto as Exhibit “A.” 
 
 SO BE IT RESOLVED, this 7th day of March, 2023. 

 
       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
       BULLOCH COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
       By:________________________________ 
            Roy Thompson, Chairman 
 
          (SEAL)      Attest:______________________________ 

     Venus Mincey-White, Clerk of the Board  

5.5.b

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 t
o

 A
m

en
d

 F
Y

20
23

 B
u

d
g

et
  (

F
Y

23
 M

id
-Y

ea
r 

B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t)



Row Labels Sum of Adj Amount
100 1,173,179.00              

Increase Expenditure Budget - allow use of insurance proceeds to purchase replacement vehicles 65,085.00                    
Increase Expenditure Budget - convert PT position to FT 9,492.00                      
Increase Expenditure Budget - GRPA BOOST Grant Expenses 390,867.00                  
Increase Expenditure Budget - Intergovernmental transfer to State for Upper Payment Limit 53,288.00                    
Increase Revenue Budget - GRPA BOOST Grant 395,694.00                  
Increase Revenue Budget - Insurance proceeds from wrecked vehicles 65,085.00                    
Increase Revenue Budget - Medicare/Medicaid Upper Payment Limit 193,668.00                  
Reallocate Expenditure Budget - Vacation cashouts -                                

214 1,232.00                      
Increase Expenditure Budget - Vacation cashouts 1,232.00                      

215 4,965.00                      
Increase Expenditure Budget - Vacation cashouts 4,965.00                      

272 4,170.00                      
Increase Expenditure Budget - Vacation cashouts 4,170.00                      

325 67,934.00                    
Increase Expenditure Budget - SW capital purchases using SW SPLOST 19 Fund Balance 67,934.00                    

556 3,281.00                      
Increase Expenditure Budget - Vacation cashouts 3,281.00                      

Grand Total 1,254,761.00              

General Fund:
Total Revenue Increase 654,447.00                  
Total Expenditure Increase 518,732.00                  

Net Effect to Fund Balance 135,715.00                  

EXHIBIT A

5.5.c

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 -
 M

ar
ch

 2
02

3 
B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
 (

F
Y

23
 M

id
-Y

ea
r 

B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Legal 

 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Approve an Easement to Georgia Power Company in Consideration for $935.00 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

Georgia Power Company has requested Bulloch County to execute the attached easement and, as indicated in 

the attached offer letter, has offered to pay Bulloch County $935.00 as the fair market value of the easement.  

This easement is on the property where the Clito fire station is located.  Public Safety Director Ted Wynn and 

Fire Chief Ben Tapley have both looked at the easement and see no problem with it.  Georgia Power is 

requesting the easement as part of a project to rebuild the existing Deal Branch - Sylvania 115kV 

Transmission Line (Clito Tap).  Approval is recommended. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? NO 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Jeff Akins Completed 03/01/2023 5:43 AM 

Cindy Steinmann Pending  

Tom Couch Completed 03/01/2023 5:44 AM 

Kristie King Completed 03/01/2023 8:16 AM 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/07/2023 5:30 PM 

5.6

Packet Pg. 26



5.6.a

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

as
em

en
t 

 (
G

eo
rg

ia
 P

o
w

er
 E

as
em

en
t)



5.6.a

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

as
em

en
t 

 (
G

eo
rg

ia
 P

o
w

er
 E

as
em

en
t)



5.6.a

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

as
em

en
t 

 (
G

eo
rg

ia
 P

o
w

er
 E

as
em

en
t)



5.6.a

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

as
em

en
t 

 (
G

eo
rg

ia
 P

o
w

er
 E

as
em

en
t)



5.6.a

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

as
em

en
t 

 (
G

eo
rg

ia
 P

o
w

er
 E

as
em

en
t)



5.6.b

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

ff
er

 L
et

te
r 

 (
G

eo
rg

ia
 P

o
w

er
 E

as
em

en
t)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Fire 

 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Motion to purchase new management and reporting software from First Due in the amount of $27,650 for the Bulloch 

County Fire Department. 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

After reviewing each product, it has been determined that First Due is best suited to manage our department 

moving forward. It provides the tools we are looking for to manage all aspects of the fire department with easy 

to use tabs that improve mobility inside of the software.  

 

The alert module that can be used by all firefighters, career and volunteer will show the firefighters point to 

point directions, and give the pre-incident plan information to them as well. It displays AVL positions for 

other units to track. Currently, the firefighters are being alerted by eDispatch costing Bulloch County $4,440 a 

year. This service could be canceled once First Due is purchased and online.  
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? NO 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Faye Bragg Completed 02/27/2023 4:32 PM 

Kristie King Completed 02/28/2023 8:14 AM 

Tom Couch Pending  

Cindy Steinmann Completed 02/28/2023 2:26 PM 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/07/2023 5:30 PM 

5.7

Packet Pg. 33



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



5.7.a

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

o
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

 (
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
fo

r 
B

u
llo

ch
 C

o
u

n
ty

 F
Ir

e)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Public Works 

 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Motion to Approve the Purchase of Grapple Truck from Solid Waste Applied Technologies, Inc. in the Amount of 

$278,950.00. 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

Price includes all parts, delivery and warranty. SWAT was lowest bidder. Sourcewell Contract #040621-HMC. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? YES 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
YES 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Faye Bragg Completed 02/24/2023 3:13 PM 

Kristie King Completed 02/24/2023 3:55 PM 

Tom Couch Completed 02/25/2023 10:38 AM 

Cindy Steinmann Completed 02/28/2023 2:26 PM 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/07/2023 5:30 PM 

5.8

Packet Pg. 50



Solid Waste Applied Technologies Phone: 912-549-0005 
207 Hal Averitt Blvd Cell: 912-293-0099   
Statesboro, Georgia  30458 JC@SWATtruckrepair.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2/9/23      Quotation 
 
Bulloch County Solid Waste  (SW# 138140) 
17315 Hwy 301 North  
Statesboro, GA  30458 
 
 
Quote:   Purchase of KBF-222A-CN-MJ Pac-Mac Grapple Truck/2024 Freightliner 114SD Chassis 
 Sourcewell Contract # 040621-HMC 
 
Description: 
KBF-222A-CN-MJ  Pac-Mac Grapple 
 
Standard Features 
Rotating Operator’s Station (Crows nest) w/ 360 Degree Boom rotations 
A-Style Outriggers 
Hot Shift PTO 
Paint:  Standard Red/Black Loader, White Body 
Mechanical Joystick Controls 
Pivot Mounted Strobe 
Mid Body Turns/Rear corner post Strobes/ 2 additional strobes on rear of body 
Booms UP Alarm 
22 FT Body - 40 Cubic Yard Capacity Body 
Single Door 
7” Rear Vision Camera System 
 
Chassis:  2024 Freightliner 114SD  Conventional Chassis Tandem Axle 
Cummins Engine X12  500 HP 
Allison 4500 RDS Transmission 
 
Freight  Included in price to end user 
 
 
 
Total Price:   $270,000.00     (Not including Warranty) 
 
 
PO Number and Payment to be made to: Solid Waste Applied Technologies Inc 
No Taxes or fees are included in this price.  If Applicable will be calculated at time of purchase 
 
*Due to Current economic conditions, pricing is subject to change due to Surcharges from suppliers* 
Extended Warranties available for purchase on Engine, Emissions, and Transmission. 
 
 
Warranty Cost and listings on Page 2 
 
 
 

Page 1 

5.8.a

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

W
A

T
 G

ra
p

p
le

 Q
u

o
te

  (
P

u
rc

h
as

e 
o

f 
G

ra
p

p
le

 T
ru

ck
)



 
Extended Warranty Options 

 
 
 
Pac-Mac Standard Warranty includes the Following:  See attached Standard Warranty Statement 
Non Hydraulic Replacement parts – 1 Year 
Major Structural Components Parts – 3 Year 
Swing Drive (Slewing Ring and Gearbox Parts only) – 3 Year                         
 
 
Extended Warranty Coverage   $6,100.00 
Hydraulic Cylinders Ext Warranty Coverage (Parts only)- 1 additional year for total of 2 years coverage 
Slewing Ring and Structural Ext Warranty coverage (Parts Only)- 2 additional years for total of 5 years. 
 
**Extended coverages are parts only coverage.  Does not include any wear items*** 
 
 
Cummins Engine Extended Warranty Coverage 
 
5 Year/200K Miles Engine Coverage - $1100.00 
5 Year/200K Miles Emissions Coverage-  $750.00 
Allison 5 Year/unlimited miles Warranty- $1000.00 
 
Total extended Warranty Cost for Engine/Emissions/Trans =  $2850.00 
 
 
 
Truck/Grapple Cost:   $270,000.00 
Grapple Ext Warranty:   $6,100.00 
Eng/Emissions/Trans Warranty: $2850.00 
 
 
Total Cost with Warranty :   $278,950.00  
 
 
 
JC Gillenwater 
Solid Waste Applied Technologies Inc 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 2  End of Quote 

5.8.a

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

W
A

T
 G

ra
p

p
le

 Q
u

o
te

  (
P

u
rc

h
as

e 
o

f 
G

ra
p

p
le

 T
ru

ck
)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



5.8.b

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

u
sh

 G
ra

p
p

le
 Q

u
o

te
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



DATE:

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE REQUESTED TO BE PURCHASED:

UNIT PRICE EXTENSION UNIT PRICE EXTENSION UNIT PRICE EXTENSION

1 $                              270,000.00 $   270,000.00 $   270,000.00 $   270,000.00 

1 $                                  6,100.00 $       6,100.00 $       6,100.00 $       6,100.00 

1 $                                  2,850.00 $       2,850.00 $       2,850.00 $       2,850.00 

1 $                              329,486.00 $   329,486.00 $   329,486.00 $       329,486.00 

PLUS FREIGHT

TOTALS $   278,950.00 $329,486.00

AWARD TO: SWAT

Solid Waste

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT NOTES

(IF NOT LOW QUOTATION STATE REASON)

DEPARTMENT HEAD/DESIGNEE

PURCHASE ORDER NO.:DEPT. ACCOUNT NO.: 10045200-542500Dink Butler

REQUISITION
2/24/2023TO: PURCHASING BULLOCH COUNTY, GEORGIA

VENDOR QUOTATIONS

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION

Solid Waste Applied 
Technologies, 

Inc(Sourcewell Contract # 
040621-HMC)

Rush Truck Centers(State 
Contract #99999-SPD-

SPD0000155-0001)
UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

NO. 1 NO. 2 NO. 3

KBF-222A-CN-MJ Pac-Mac Grapple

Grapple Ext Warranty

Eng/Emissions/Trans Warranty

International HX620

5.8.c

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

- 
G

ra
p

p
le

 T
ru

ck
 2

-2
4-

23
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

G
ra

p
p

le
 T

ru
ck

)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Legal 

 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Approve and Ratify an Economic Development Agreement by and among the Development Authority of Bulloch County and 

Joon Georgia, Inc. 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

The Development Authority has entered into the attached Economic Development Agreement with Joon 

Georgia, Inc. regarding a project in Bulloch County.  The Development Authority and Joon Georgia, Inc. are 

the parties to the Agreement, but the Board of Commissioners and Board of Tax Assessors have been 

requested to acknowledge the Agreement and agree to applicable provisions.  You will recall that the Board of 

Commissioners and the Board of Assessors previously approved a Memorandum of Understanding related to 

this project in December of 2022.  In order to meet the closing deadline for the bonds, it was necessary to 

execute the Agreement prior to this meeting.  Approval and ratification of the Economic Development 

Agreement is recommended. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

New Business Budgeted Item? NO 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Jeff Akins Completed 03/01/2023 5:44 AM 

Cindy Steinmann Pending  

Tom Couch Completed 03/01/2023 5:44 AM 

Kristie King Completed 03/01/2023 8:18 AM 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/07/2023 5:30 PM 

6.1

Packet Pg. 63



6.1.a

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
 (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 a

n
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t)



6.1.a

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
 (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 a

n
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t)



6.1.a

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
 (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 a

n
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t)



6.1.a

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
 (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 a

n
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t)



6.1.a

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
 (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 a

n
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t)



6.1.a

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
 (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 a

n
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t)



6.1.a

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
 (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 a

n
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Legal 

 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Discussion and/or Action to Change Road Name from Siggers Road to Nadine Way 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

The attached petition has been submitted requesting that the Board of Commissioners change the name of 

Siggers Road to Nadine Way.  Section 4-78(g) of the Code of Ordinances provides that upon receipt of a 

petition requesting the change of an existing road name containing the signatures of the owners of not less than 

75 percent of the parcels of property abutting the road, the Board of Commissioners shall take under 

consideration but be under no compulsion to grant the request.  The attached petition meets the 75% threshold 

and has been signed by the owners of all abutting parcels except one.  The one abutting parcel for whom a 

signature has not been obtained is not addressed to Siggers Road and, therefore, changing the name of the road 

to Nadine Way would not require a change of address for this parcel.  This is a private road, and the name 

change has been requested by the family living on the road to honor a family member. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

New Business Budgeted Item? NO 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/07/2023 5:30 PM 

6.2

Packet Pg. 71



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



6.2.a

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e 

 (
P

et
it

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

o
ad

 N
am

e 
C

h
an

g
e)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Special Projects 

 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Approve Change Order in the amount of $42,232.00 to Lavender & Associates, Inc. for additional work on the North Main 

Annex renovation/addition project. 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

The original contract for the North Main Annex renovation/addition is $1,867,038.00 and the project was 

awarded to Lavender and Associates on September 19, 2022, with construction beginning on November 12, 

2022. Once construction began, staff realized the existing stairs at the Building and Zoning entrance where the 

new handicapped ramp will be located has a need for improvement. Once the flooring was removed in the 

foyer inside the door, it still left a 3-4 inch incline from outside the door and thru it. Since this will be the ADA 

entrance that was determined to be an excessive amount. Also, the current stairs are steep and are not code 

compliant, and the current handrails are rusting and are not up to code. After seeing all the issues with the 

current stairs, the staff asked the contractor to provide a cost for updating the stairs by raising the top landing 

to be more wheelchair accessible and building the steps to be more code compliant. Also, while making those 

changes, further additions for compliance will be needed, such as installing new handrails on each side of the 

stairs. We believe this will make for a safer access as this will be the main access into the building.  

Also, included in this change order is some additional new floor covering. There would be only two short 

sections of hall that would not have the new LVP flooring once the renovation is complete. They are the short 

hall located at the current conference room and the hall outside the HR Department. These sections of hallway 

have a relatively high amount of traffic due to the HR Department.  Also, since we are proposing upgrading 

the flooring in that hall, it was determined that the HR Department should be upgraded to the new flooring at 

the same time.  

The total price for the change order is $42,232. 00, which would bring the total contract price to 

$1,909,270.00. Approval is recommended. 

 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

New Business Budgeted Item? YES 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
YES 

6.3

Packet Pg. 92



Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Kristie King Completed 02/28/2023 2:21 PM 

We have not made a final decision on a funding source for the additional cost, but I am 

comfortable that we have the funding available for this.  

Jeff Akins Completed 02/28/2023 3:46 PM 

Cindy Steinmann Completed 02/28/2023 4:30 PM 

Tom Couch Completed 03/01/2023 5:43 AM 

Olympia Gaines Pending  

Faye Bragg Pending  

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/07/2023 5:30 PM 

6.3

Packet Pg. 93



6.3.a

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
an

g
e 

o
rd

er
 n

u
m

b
er

 1
 L

av
en

d
er

 s
ta

ir
s 

an
d

 f
lo

o
ri

n
g

  (
C

h
an

g
e 

O
rd

er
 -

 N
M

A
 r

en
o

va
ti

o
n

/a
d

d
it

io
n

)


	Agenda Packet
	I. Call to Order, Welcome Media and Visitors
	II. Invocation and Pledge
	III. Roll Call
	1. Roll Call

	IV. Approval of General Agenda
	V. Consent Agenda
	1. Minutes of Jan 31, 2023 10:00 AM
	Printout: Minutes of Jan 31, 2023 10:00 AM

	2. Minutes of Feb 7, 2023 5:30 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Feb 7, 2023 5:30 PM

	3. Minutes of Feb 21, 2023 8:30 AM
	Printout: Minutes of Feb 21, 2023 8:30 AM

	4. BCCI Plumbing Replacement
	Printout: BCCI Plumbing Replacement
	a. Plumbing Replacement Estimate

	5. FY23 Mid-Year Budget Amendment
	Printout: FY23 Mid-Year Budget Amendment
	a. FY23 Budget Amendment - March Agenda Summary
	b. Resolution to Amend FY2023 Budget
	c. Exhibit A - March 2023 Budget Amendment

	6. Georgia Power Easement
	Printout: Georgia Power Easement
	a. Easement
	b. Offer Letter

	7. Management Software for Bulloch County FIre
	Printout: Management Software for Bulloch County FIre
	a. Requisition and Quote for Management Software

	8. Purchase of Grapple Truck
	Printout: Purchase of Grapple Truck
	a. SWAT Grapple Quote
	b. Rush Grapple Quote
	c. Requisition- Grapple Truck 2-24-23


	VI. New Business
	1. Approve an Economic Development Agreement
	Printout: Approve an Economic Development Agreement
	a. Economic Development Agreement

	2. Petition for Road Name Change
	Printout: Petition for Road Name Change
	a. Petition for Road Name Change

	3. Change Order - NMA renovation/addition
	Printout: Change Order - NMA renovation/addition
	a. Change order number 1 Lavender stairs and flooring


	VII. Public Comments
	VIII. Commission and Staff Comments
	IX. Adjourn

	Appendix
	5.1 · Minutes of Jan 31, 2023 10:00 AM
	5.2 · Minutes of Feb 7, 2023 5:30 PM
	5.3 · Minutes of Feb 21, 2023 8:30 AM
	5.4 · BCCI Plumbing Replacement
	5.4.a · Plumbing Replacement Estimate

	5.5 · FY23 Mid-Year Budget Amendment
	5.5.a · FY23 Budget Amendment - March Agenda Summary
	5.5.b · Resolution to Amend FY2023 Budget
	5.5.c · Exhibit A - March 2023 Budget Amendment

	5.6 · Georgia Power Easement
	5.6.a · Easement
	5.6.b · Offer Letter

	5.7 · Management Software for Bulloch County FIre
	5.7.a · Requisition and Quote for Management Software

	5.8 · Purchase of Grapple Truck
	5.8.a · SWAT Grapple Quote
	5.8.b · Rush Grapple Quote
	5.8.c · Requisition- Grapple Truck 2-24-23

	6.1 · Approve an Economic Development Agreement
	6.1.a · Economic Development Agreement

	6.2 · Petition for Road Name Change
	6.2.a · Petition for Road Name Change

	6.3 · Change Order - NMA renovation/addition
	6.3.a · Change order number 1 Lavender stairs and flooring



